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MiSSiOn HKIRC is a not-for-profit organization that is committed to providing, and supervising
the provision of .hk and .&® Internet domain names registration, resolution and
ﬁﬁlﬁﬁ related services in an uninterrupted, effective, customer-centric and sustainable
manner. In addition, HKIRC promotes Hong Kong as an inclusive, secure, innovative
and international city for the Internet and encourages the use of Internet and the
related technologies.
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Chairman’s Statement

EE®E

Chairman
FE

Mr. Simon CHAN
Sai Ming
BeR 4 BR 5 A

Overview

Despite a softening in global economic activity in 2019, Hong Kong
Internet Registration Corporation Limited (“HKIRC”) recorded a
steady increase in .hk domain name registrations, maintaining the
overall growth momentum it has achieved across the last 10 years.
Over the past year we made driving further domain name usage
one of our priorities, and assisted many more local enterprises to
get online. In addition to continuing to expand the footprint of the
.hk domain name, we also pursued opportunities to enhance our
services in connection with HKIRC’s core mandates: namely, to
promote Hong Kong as an international centre for ecommerce, and
to encourage a better understanding and use of the Internet and
related technology among the Hong Kong community.

In 2019, we increased the number of our Consultative and Advisory
Panel (“CAP”) members, thus broadening the range of advice and
suggestions available to us from various professional groups. To
take a step forward, we also embraced the recommendations made
by an independent corporate governance consultant to increase the
involvement of stakeholders. We believe such enhancements can
receive more feedbacks from stakeholders in a balanced approach,
and bring in positive changes to our services.
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1 Our Internet community services and initiatives are
designed not only to support the majority of users,
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On top of this, we increased the number of .hk member engagement
activities that we held over the course of the year. These helped us
to gain a stronger grasp of the status quo of HKIRC’s development,
and of the most common domain issues facing our members
as well. It has been observed that the major thing that hinders
enterprises from moving online is their lack of cyber security
knowledge. In response, HKIRC has launched several new initiatives
designed to educate .hk members about cyber security and
introduce them to the latest cyber security trends. Our unflagging
efforts to improve online security and protect organisations from
cyber attacks are helping to build a safer .hk landscape, and are
laying a solid foundation for the future.

Our Internet community services and initiatives are designed not
only to support the majority of users, but also to embrace the needs
of minorities. Specifically, it is our mission to provide an inclusive,
barrier-free .nk community so that everyone can enjoy unobstructed
access to the web. Since 2018, HKIRC has been running the
Web Accessibility Recognition Scheme, which encourages local
enterprises and organisations of all sizes to adopt accessibility
design principles in their websites and mobile applications.
Accessible web design can enable people with disabilities to
participate more actively in society, further increasing the Internet
penetration rate and making the Internet community a better one for
all.

In closing, | would like to thank all our Directors for their support and
unstinting advice in the past 12 months. On behalf of the Board, |
would also like to thank all the staff at HKIRC for their hard work,
dedication and commitment over the year. Last but not least, the
support and engagement we have enjoyed from all our .hk domain
holders, members and business partners is highly appreciated.
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CEQO’s Statement
ITHARRE

1 Our core mandate, namely to encourage the better
understanding and use of Internet technology, has
been a driving force behind our attempts to build a
more inclusive Internet community.
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We have made significant strides forward over the last year in our
commitment to promoting ecommerce and building a better Internet
community. Our effort to provide a stable and secure domain name
system is only among one of the initiatives in which we have been
helping Hong Kong become an international hub for ecommerce.

HKIRC has continued to be unwavering in its efforts to create a
safe and trusted .hk digital scene. The goal of further elevating .hk
security level requires a two-pronged effort in which both HKIRC
and stakeholders need to take part in together. We already had a
number of measures in place to protect the .hk members on our
end, for instance, deploying DNSSEC in the root zone for .hk domain
and performing document-vetting to ensure there is a legitimate
business behind each .com.hk application; over the past year
we further strengthened our services to establish a reliable online
environment for ecommerce businesses. In March 2019, HKIRC was
awarded ISO 27001 certification in recognition of our commitment
to developing and embedding policies and procedures within
our business in compliance with the industry standard and best
practices. On top of these, we offered free in-depth website security
scan services to all SME .hk domain holders and concurrently,
we shared with them our findings regarding the cyber security
weaknesses and insufficiencies of the local network environment,
anticipating that these value-added services could assist domain
users in identifying their website issues and mitigate them quickly.
Since most SMEs lack in-depth cyber security understanding, we
took a step forward to organise educational seminars to boost the
cyber security knowledge and awareness of local enterprises. All the
above initiatives avail the opportunity to the betterment of the .hk
digital scene.

CEO
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Mr. Wilson WONG
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Our core mandate, namely to encourage the better understanding
and use of Internet technology, has been a driving force behind
our attempts to build a more inclusive Internet community. We
aim to convey an important message to .hk users: the increasing
adoption of accessible websites not only positively impacts the
Internet community, but it also paves the way to an improved
website structure and helps businesses conform to good coding
practice that results in better SEO rankings; going accessible is a
move that is favorable to all. During the year, we actively promoted
the Web Accessibility Recognition Scheme to .hk members and
offered free technical workshops to local enterprises to encourage
them to incorporate accessible features into their websites. To gain
an overview of the adoption of accessible websites and mobile
apps, we also organised a survey on the web accessibility situation
in Hong Kong. Throughout the year, we shared our findings and
exchanged views on web accessibility with our regional counterparts
and ccTLD operators at overseas industry events.

The new HKIRC corporate identity, which includes a fresh logo
and a revamped website, was introduced in December. The new
identity reflects HKIRC’s forward momentum and the growing
sophistication of our services and initiatives in promoting Hong Kong
as an inclusive, secure and international city for the Internet, and
encouraging the use of the Internet and related technologies.

Looking ahead, HKIRC envisages another year full of both challenges
and opportunities for the domain industry. We will continue to seek
new ways to grow .hk domain registration and to increase the reach
of our Internet community programmes, while continuing to protect
even more .hk domain holders against cyber attacks.

Finally, I would like to thank our Chairman, Mr. Simon Chan, and the
HKIRC Board, for their steadfast leadership and continued support.

Their work has made the past financial year a success on many
fronts.
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Board of Directors and Committees

Board of Directors and Committees

Hong Kong Internet Registration Corporation Limited ("HKIRC”)
is a not-for-profit, non-statutory, company limited by guarantee
designated by the Government of the HKSAR to undertake the
administration of Internet domain names under the .hk country
code top level domain and its equivalents. HKIRC provides
registration services through its accredited registrars for domain
names ending with .com.hk, ‘AF].&HE, net.hk, .4 &, org.
hk, ZB&E. &S, .gov.hk, .BUT.EH, .eduhk, HE.EHE, .idv.hk,
AEBA.FH, hk and .&H. Hong Kong Domain Name Registration
Company Limited ("“HKDNR"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
HKIRC, is one of the accredited registrars.

The HKIRC Board of Directors consists of two Directors elected by
Members of the Demand Class, two Directors elected by Members
of the Supply Class, and four Directors appointed by the HKSAR
Government.
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Board of Directors and Committees

EERREESE

Chairman
FE

Mr. Simon CHAN
Sai Ming
PR 4 BA 5 A

(Appointed by the HKSAR Government BUFZ )

Mr. Chan Sai Ming, Simon is the Executive Director and Chief
Executive of Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited with overall
responsibility for the business and operations of the Bank. Before
joining the Bank, he was Deputy General Manager of Group Audit
of BOCHK, with extensive auditing experience in computer and
information technology. Mr. Chan is also a Director of Hong Kong
Interbank Clearing Limited, HKICL Services Limited, Hong Kong
Trade Finance Platform Company Limited, and now serves as
Member of the Banking Industry Training Advisory Committee of
the Education Bureau, Chairman of Banking and Finance Training
Board of the Vocational Training Council and was the past
President of ISACA China Hong Kong Chapter.

Mr. Chan graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong,
and obtained Master's degrees in Science and Commerce in
Accounting from the University of Ulster and the University of New
South Wales respectively. He is a Certified Information Systems
Auditor and Certified Internal Auditor.
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Deputy
Chairman
EESS
Prof. Erwin
HUANG
=K

(Demand Class £ A& £ 7)

Professor Erwin Huang is a serial entrepreneur, a leader in a
social enterprise and the elLearning field more than 30 years.
Currently, he is Associate Professor and Senior Advisor of The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, his mission
is to teach Social Innovation and Entrepreneurship to university
students and to let more young generations understand
entrepreneurial spirit, identify social issues, as well as creating
social impact through innovations. He is Co-Founder & Executive
Chairman of DreamStarter, a community initiative that makes
dream projects initiated by school students come true; he is also
Founder of Agent of Change, a young social enterprise aiming to
provide low-price high-quality daily necessities to grassroots; and
Chairman of Social Career, a nonprofit organization that educates
the general public about volunteerism and involvement in social
causes and services. Erwin sits in various companies and
Government advisory committees. He is also Deputy Chairman &
Nonexecutive Director of Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International)
Limited (Stock: 417).

Deputy
Chairman
eSS

Mr. Leo KAN

Kin Leung
BERR %L

Board of Directors and Committees
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(Appointed by the HKSAR Government till 22 April 2020 BUFZEZE202054 A22H 1k)

Mr. Leo Kan is a Director of Champion Technology Limited.
He holds a Master’'s degree in Business Administration from
Dalhousie University in Canada and a Master’'s degree in
Economics from the University of Alberta in Canada. He has
also completed the Oxford Advanced Management Programme
at the Said Business School of the University of Oxford. In civic
duties, Mr. Kan is currently the Deputy Chairman of the Hong
Kong Internet Registration Corporation Limited. He was a Council
Member of the Hong Kong Information Technology Joint Council
from 2009-2018. He also served as the Chairman of the Hong
Kong Information Technology Industry Council for 6 years during
2011-2017.
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Board of Directors and Committees
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Member

Prof. Francis
CHIN Yuk’Lun

(Appointed by the HKSAR Government B fFZ )

Professor Chin is a University of Toronto (BASc.) and Princeton
(MA, MS, PhD) graduate; Fellow of IEEE, HKIE and HKACE;
Emeritus and Honorary Professor of HKU. Professor Chin was the
Chair and Founding Head of Computer Science, Associate Dean
of Graduate School and Associate Dean of Engineering at HKU.

Professor Chin is co-founder and Chief Solutions Officer of
an HK Science Park startup “DeepTranslate”, which applies
Al to translation. Professor Chin is Chairman of the Process
Review Committee, HK Museum Expert Advisor and HK Council
for Accreditation of Academic & Vocational Qualifications
(HKCAAVQ) Specialist. He has served on many government policy
and advisory committees, including Deposit Protection Board,
Trade Development Council, Co-opted Member of HKSTP Incu-
Tech Admission Panel, IIAC and ARC. Professor Chin was Project
Leader of the inquiry into the FIDS-related problems surrounding
the commencement of HK International Airport. During 2001, he
served as the first (interim) CEO of HKDNR.

Member

Dr. Wendy LEE
Woon Ming
FIRBRE L

(Demand Classff f & 5 5l)

With over 20 years of extensive industry experience, Dr. Wendy
Lee is the Regional Manager, HK & Macau, of Autodesk Far East
Limited and is also a technology columnist. Dr. Lee also serves
as committee member of industry professional associations and
advisory committee, including as a member of the Enterprise
Support Scheme Assessment Panel under the Innovation and
Technology Fund, member of the Cyberport’s Entrepreneurship
Committee Advisory Group, President of Hong Kong Innovative
Technology Development Association and was served as the Past
Chairman of the BCS (Hong Kong Section) in 2012-2013.

Dr. Lee holds a Bachelor Degree in Electrical and Computer
Engineering from The University of British Columbia in Canada,
Master Degree in Business Administration from The University
of Leicester in the U.K., and Doctor of Business Administration
Degree from The University of South Australia in Australia.
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Member

&

Mr. Stephen HO
Wai Chung
A& 54

(Appointed by the HKSAR Government B fFZ )

Mr. Stephen Ho carries with him more than 30 years of extensive
industry experience. His efforts and contribution to the technology
sector are numerous and notable. Mr. Ho has been appointed
as the President and Chair on the Board of Governors of the
US Pacific Telecommunications Council (“PTC”) in 2014, 2015
& 2018. In 2012-2018, Mr. Ho served as the Chairman of the
Communications Association of Hong Kong (“CAHK”), and
also is appointed as Honorary Chairman in 2018. Mr. Ho is a
committed member of IT Management Committee of Hong Kong
Management Association (“HKMA”) since 2012 and the Chairman
of IT Management Club of HKMA since 2018. He served as one
of the members of the McGill University’s Advisory Group in Asia
in 2016/2018, and also a member of the Advisory Board of the
Department of Electronic and Computer Engineering (“ECE”)
of the HKUST. In 2018, he is appointed as one of the Board
of Directors of Hong Kong Applied Science And Technology
Research Institute (“ASTRI”).

Member

D=

Mr. Gabriel PANG
Tsz Kit
TFEREAE

(Supply Class fR#&12 {4t & R Al)

Mr. Gabriel Pang has over 25 years of experience in game
animation and comics industry. As the Founder of the leading
game development company, Firedog Studio, he is one of the
pioneers in game development and creative industry in Hong
Kong.

Mr. Pang is currently the Chairman of Hong Kong Digital
Entertainment Association, the President of Hong Kong Innovative
Technology Development Association, Director of Hong Kong
Education City Limited, Vice Chairman and Honorary Secretary
of Hong Kong Software Industry Association, Vice Chairman of
Hong Kong General Chamber of Small and Medium Business —
Youth Committee, and committee member of Federation of Hong
Kong Industries — Group 30 Innovation and Creative Industries
Council. He was also a past director of Cyberport, past committee
member of HK Taiwan Cultural Cooperation Committee, and past
committee member of Commission on Youth.

Board of Directors and Committees
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Member
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Mr. Lento YIP
Yuk Fai
BB

(Supply Class till 16 May 2019 RIFIRHE R Z2019F5 816 H 1k)

Mr. Lento Yip is one of the current Directors representing
Supply Class Members. He has previously served the board of
HKIRC and was the first Director of HKIRC who advocated for
transforming .hk to the current Registry-Registrar model.

Lento is the current Chairman of the Hong Kong Internet Service
Providers Association. He assisted the HKISPA and its members
in promoting an open market for development of the Internet,
contributed to making HK as one of the most connected cities. He
also assisted the HKISPA in establishing Codes of Practices to
protect the interest of the public and service providers. Mr. Yip is
also a member of the Election Committee of the IT sector.

Member

Mr. Ben LI
Ming Pan
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(Supply Class from 16 May 2019 Rzt & R BIH2019F5 16 HiE)

Mr Ben Li graduated from City University of Hong Kong with
Bachelor of Science (Hon) Information Technology. He received
Master Degrees in Scientific Computing and Financial Engineering
from Hong Kong Baptist University and Hong Kong City University
respectively. Mr Li currently serves as Operations Director at
Equinix (HK) Limited, responsible to ensure stable and efficient
operation of all data centers in Hong Kong.

Mr Li was a Director Board member (Supply Class) of HKIRC
between 2008 to 2014, also being elected as the Secretary of the
Hong Kong Internet Service Providers Association from 2006 to
2009. He represented the ISP industry to communicate technical
and operational views in various occasions, like Wi-Fi security
guidelines formation, Copyright Ordinance forum and Legislative
Councilor advisory board.
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Board of Directors and Committees

EERNEES

Under the Board of Directors, there are an Audit Committee and an Executive Committee. Members of the

Committees are as follows:
EERITEAZBZESk—EARTEZES - ZEFNEWT -

Audit Committee

Mr. Stephen HO Wai Chung (Chairman)
Prof. Francis CHIN Yuk Lun

Mr. Leo KAN Kin LEUNG (till 22 April 2020)
Mr. Gabriel PANG Tsz Kit

Executive Committee

Mr. Simon CHAN Sai Ming (Chairman)
Prof. Erwin HUANG

Mr. Leo KAN Kin LEUNG (till 22 April 2020)
Dr. Wendy LEE Woon Ming

Mr. Gabriel PANG Tsz Kit

RHEES

fAER L (EE)
BSER R 564 (£20204F4 B228 1)
R i

BITEES

PRAMAA LA (£FE)

FER B e 4 (F£20205F4 228 1F)
FRmpE

TTHEE

EBORAZMEERERQT 2019 FEHRS @g}



Consultative and Advisory Panel

HAEEE

Mr. Nick CHAN, MH
PREZIE 2R - MH

Ir. Henry CHEUNG
SR A TERD

Mr. Sutton CHEUNG
RIRE S

Dr. Eric CHIN
SRR LT

Ir. Dr. P. T. HO
faymEE L - Ti2Am

Mr. Chris HUANG
BRI

Ir. Sunny LEE, JP
ZERTEAD - P

Mr. Tony LEE
ES

Mr. Johnny LUK
PERE LA

Mr. Fred SHEU
FTEEE A

Mr. Alan SO
EREE e

[ ‘
Partner, Squire Patton Boggs

Nominated by The Law Society of Hong Kong
BDFEREMEBAEEA
HEBEMEIRE

Managing Director, Kone Elevator (HK) Limited

Nominated by The Institution of Engineering and Technology Hong Kong
BOER (BE) BRAREFELE

HIREEMKBEEELSRA

Vice President, CITIC Telecom International Holdings Ltd.
Nominated by Communications Association of Hong Kong
hERBREREEGR AR EE

HEEBARB SRS

Founder and Chief Executive, Futurecyber Technology Solution Limited
Nominated by Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce
BRI AR A AR

HEBEEEIRSG

Director of IT Services, The University of Hong Kong
Nominated by The University of Hong Kong
BERBEMB R AR

HEBAZRE

Manager, e-Nissei.com Limited

Nominated by Federation of Hong Kong Industries
HREFEHEARAAILIE

HEBTIXBeRS

Vice-President (Administration), City University of Hong Kong
Nominated by The Hong Kong Management Association
BEHMTRZEIRE (T8

HABEEIEXH SRS

General Manager, Information Technology Resource Centre Limited
Nominated by The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
BEAERGH S E AR RE R O ELIR
HABTERBHERS

Director, Speedy Group Corporation Limited

Nominated by Hong Kong Internet Service Providers Association
REEBEEGRARES

HEE ARG HEERH SRS

Head, Information Technology Division, Consumer Council
Nominated by Consumer Council
HEEZS G EARRAAEE

HHEEZEGRRE

National Technology Officer, Microsoft Hong Kong Limited
Nominated by Hong Kong Computer Society
WEHBBERIAEERB IR R

HAESEKREGRRE

Computer Officer, Information Technology Services Centre, The Chinese University of Hong Kong

Nominated by The Chinese University of Hong Kong
BEPXABENER RIS EEEAD
HEBEPXAZRESR
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Mr. Eric YEUNG
BRI

Mr. Edmond LAl

(Newly appointed#Z 1T)
(From 1 September 2019
H2019F9A1HE)

Mr. Aaron PANG
TERE

(Newly appointed¥1Z& 1E)
(From 24 October 2019
201910 A24 A #2)

Mr. K. K. SIN
ERESE

(Newly appointed# Z 1T)
(From 1 September 2019
H2019F9A1HiE)

Mr. S. K. YIU

SRR A

(Till 31 August 2019
Z201948A31 L)

Mr. Frankie WONG
ERHEE
(Newly appointed#iZ ()

(From 1 September 2019
H2019F9 A1 H#E)

Mr. Frank CHOW
ERREE A

(Till 31 August 2019
Z2019F8A31H1L)

Mr. Henry WONG
ITRHEBELE

(Newly appointed¥1Z& 1E)

(From 9 November 2019

201911 A9 A #E)

Mr. Lawrence NG
REEFELAE

(From 1 September 2019
till 8 November 2019
F2019F9 A1 HEEE
2019411 A8H L)

Mr Tony WONG, JP

/\/L/ ﬁlﬁ?ﬁgi LJP

(Newly appointed#1 £ 1T)
(From 19 December 2019
F20194 12 A 198 #E)

Miss Donna CHAN
PRIBLEF 22 1

(Till 18 December 2019
Z2019512 8188 1F)

Consultative and Advisory Panel

HHEEE

Executive Director, Skyzer VC Limited

Nominated by The Hong Kong General Chamber of Small and Medium Business
RERBRRRESENTES

HEEP/ NP RBENSRES

Chief Digital Officer, Hong Kong Productivity Council

Nominated by Hong Kong Computer Emergency Response Team Coordination Centre
BEREENREREFEHHRE

HEBEMRLEWHAR LIRE

Head of Digital Transformation, The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
Nominated by The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
BEASTMAGHBREEE

HAASSTAAGRE

Head of Regulatory 1, Office of the Communications Authority
Nominated by Office of the Communications Authority, the Government of the HKSAR
BAEHEERMAZTHEREE

HEBRREN - BAEKEERRAERSE

Vice-Chairperson, Professional Information Security Association
Nominated by Professional Information Security Association
BEREEEMREHERIEF

HEREEXEARTHERA

Divisional Commander, Intellectual Property Technology Crime Investigation Division,
Customs and Excise Department

Nominated by Customs and Excise Department, the Government of the HKSAR

BB BBRENEEN R RATHEER

HEBRERM — B BERES

Deputy Government Chief Information Officer

Nominated by Office of the Government Chief Information Officer, the Government of the
HKSAR

Bl & B R 4a s

HREBFRIN — BNEMBHRAERA SRS
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.hk Registration
.hk =

HKIRC’s key mandate is to provide top-quality .hk domain &EEEHAFTMERBRAR(HKIRC)WEEF

registration services for the Internet community. BRAEBET B RMAEEN [ nk] 54T MR
% o
Types of .hk and .Z & Domain Names [.hklR[.B#E]FHEE5

The types of domain names available for registration are the — AIfHEFHAYE A EIEEE L B K 4F bh o0 M (AT 42
same as in the previous year. We have two types of .hk and . &% 1t AR .hk] K[ . FE|HEZEHR/EH
domain names: specific and generic. 9% R R 2 KSR o

The table below illustrates the types and numbers of .hk and .&  T~&RE[.hkl X[ BFEIHBPORERER - A

7 domain names registered as of 31 December 2019. MEZE2019F 12 A31 AL EE -

.hk ERER EBEAEA
Specific .hk Specific . &%

® com.hk 116,719 ® 17 BB 23,003

©® .eduhk 2,613 O #HE . FE 1,022

® gov.hk 634 ® BF.FE 281

@ .idv.hk 742 O EA.FBE 33

.net.hk 241 W BB 124

© .org.hk 5,154 0 . B B 1,994

Generic .hk /.8
BRAEE
.hk R.F#B

11019),58 18,149
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.hk Registration

.hk z=E

Total Registrations

The total number of .hk domain name registrations was 280,308 in
2019 - a slight increase of 2% from the previous year. The overall
.hk domain number has maintained a growth momentum across
the last ten years.

400,000
350,000
300,000
250,000
200,000
150,000
100,000

50,000

IR osasas 2 0%
242173 :

L 299,020 Q
199,923 O n n

- Q8RB

EERIEY

[.hk] B R2019F E /M M48205280,308 -
BEFEH2% - HEFMABEBET+FRN—
ERBRIFERES -

373,934

360,301

288,947
074812 280,308

0

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Domain Renewal in 2019 (by Renewal Year Term)

2015

2016 2017 2018 2019

2019 F H A EH (REAHFH)

® -year 81.1%
145

() 2%ear 5.7%
2

) B-year 6.5%
3

® 5-year 6.7%
5%
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2019 Domain Holder Type (by Percentage)

86.9%

Organizational

s

2019 Registrar Market Share

Top 3 Top 5

Registrars

ERIVERTS]

Registrars

ERIERTS]

66.0%

.hk Registration

.hk ==

2019F HAREEER (RADL)

13.1%
Individual
2019 XM M HER R
Top 10
Registrars
BH10{u =M
72.3% 85.4%

O
EBOBAZMERERAT 2019 FERE



.hk Registration

.hk z=E

DNSSEC Validation % among APAC Countries

Since the HKIRC officially announced the signing of DNSSEC
for “.hk” and ".&#" domain names in May 2017, Hong Kong
has been maintaining as one of the leading DNSSEC-deployed
regions in APAC with a DNSSEC validation rate of 50.15% (as
of early February 2020), contributing to a secure, stable and
interoperable environment for both local and global Internet
communities.

Source: APNIC labs statistics

EEMEI RDNSSEC B & R LL &

H2017F5AAHKIRCER S M AT LR
& hk . BB EDNSSECIUK » FEH
DNSSECBHBEXR —HREMERNRFIAF o &
Z2020F2H LA - EFRHDNSSECHEXRE
50.15% A7 4 [ BIFR B B 484t B IR — (1%
E - BREMKIERE -

BRER : EABEKREMTLEREREE

@® Hong Kong 50.15%
i

( Singapore - 61.39%
EAIWIIE

@ Australia - 23.26%
SEM

@® Japan 9.82%
SN
South Korea 3.15%
FAEE

( China 1.03%
T

Registrar Accreditation Programme Bani RS RE

Registrar Accreditation Programme was launched in 2011, with
an aim to encourage fair competition, enabling more choices to
customers and ultimately increase the number of .hk registration
uptake. Customers are free to choose their preferred registrar who
is able to offer one-stop Internet services to meet their specific
needs. In 2019, there were a total of 35 registrars, including 10
from local Hong Kong market, 5 from mainland China, and 20
from overseas.

MR R A AT EI R 2011 FHEH - B EEE
NIRRT - BRPIREMHEESEE - HBRHE hk
FEAMERA BEFAURSATE  BHE
EAENFMREEAMREEN —WmRARE - B
20194 * HKIRCR A A MR HBAI5R -
EF10RARMFMREE  5XRKEFEKX
BE - 20K KB ©
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Registrar Awards

Organised by HKIRC in 2011, the Best Registrar Awards honour
and celebrate the outstanding achievements of accredited
registrars who contributed the most promising registration
numbers throughout the year. In 2019, a new award category,
Best Renewal Performance Award, has been introduced to
recognize Registrars who had achieved remarkable .hk domain
renewal number. A total of 6 awards were presented to the
following winners:

2019 Best Performing Registrar Award

Speedy Group Corp. Ltd. (Gold)
West263 International Ltd. (Silver)
Eranet International Ltd. (Bronze)

2019 Best Renewal Performance Award

Speedy Group Corporation Ltd. (Gold)
CSC (Silver)
UDomain Web Hosting Co Ltd. (Bronze)

Registrars in Hong Kong FH&aZMREE

.hk Registration

.hk z=E

a1 AR %5 R 2R 1R

HKIRCHR 2011 F Rl L s EF MRS E 4 - &
B hkiEMREEAERE—FK » BIEAZEE
RETHE N WHELSEFEEMRR - KF
[§ - HKIRCIE B ¥ 8818 [ Sl R B AR R IR 58
NEr BB EERN MRS - 5F
HKIRCME 86 @118 - SEENFRENT !

2019 R =X MR

TR - REAKEEGRAF]
R — AHBISRERER AR
- B EBERER AR

2019 R B EHIKRIEE

TR -REESEERA
R4 —CSC
M — BEFREERAR

MBIER  Pdataplugs IR T HKT @nun

L

@ NICENIC hostmg;{ U Lmmes woror

Spee UDomain e

Registrars outside Hong Kong &&LNIEEMRSE

@AppDetex" ascio i%'i%"’lﬂ Crazgdomains gég

Brand Protection X
www.bizcn.com

A . ﬁ
BUIODNS =15 ::instra InteNetX jpmiror
IPFTWINS MARCARAw: ¥ MarkMonitor [ nanc[B1] @@

3 SAFEBRANDS o S s
opefiprovider ~ WCAaEN 7 Soferomes  (7) s

unitedadomains uJe.anC OQDI J_j_l

net-chinase com. fw

11©8.cn

FAFFEFFFE . COM
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.hk Registration

.hk =
HKIRC - Accredited Registrar HKIRC — 72 7 & it B 7 7
Asia (Except HK)
M (BERD)
USA
e Registrar & BRI Nu!r;\;er
:
Asia (except HK)
M (BBRI)
Europe 10 Hong Kong
BOM BB
Australia
EM
.hk Accredited Registrar kR MRS
As of 31 December 2019: A total of 35 accredited registrars HZE2019F 124318 « &35 MAREE
Q Sweden st

E

UKZEO  QDenmark £
Netherlands 8 ® Q Germany &8
France @ Q@

UAE s Q ’

4
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Highlights of the Year
FEEZR

Highlights of the Year:

HKIRC is committed to serving the Internet community, promoting
the use of .hk domain name across different sectors, as well as
fostering an inclusive digital community with unabated effort. Over
the course of the year, HKIRC held a number of activities and
initiatives for .hk and . & domain names.

HKIRC New Corporate ldentity and Revamped
Website

HKIRC launched its new corporate identity with a refreshed logo
and a revamped website in December, breathing new life and
vitality to the .hk brand. Aiming to reflect the forward-moving
momentum, growing sophistication of services and initiatives of
HKIRC, the new branding ties in with its mission to promote Hong
Kong as an inclusive, secure, innovative and international city for
the Internet and encourages the use of Internet and the related
technologies. Website contents have been rearranged under
user-specific sections for the ease of navigation. The revamped
HKIRC website adopts accessible features and responsive
design, which effectively enhances user’s web-browsing
experience across different devices and aligns with HKIRC's
on-going efforts in accomplishing digital inclusion.

IT System Advancement and ISO 27001
Certification Attainment

As the custodian of a critical Internet infrastructure in Hong
Kong, HKIRC has to be at the cutting edge of developments
related to the Internet domain name system. HKIRC is committed
to remaining at the forefront of the Internet community through
providing high-quality and professional services to all .hk/
&% domain holders. HKIRC invested greatly on existing IT
infrastructure to further enhance its service quality, security,
stability and performance, including DNSSEC deployment,
network and system upgrades, and more.

This year also marks a critical milestone for HKIRC. HKIRC has
been awarded the ISO 27001 certification of the International
Organization for Standardization (ISO) after its Information
Security Management System had passed the relevant
certification audit. The attainment of the ISO certification is an
affirmation to the comprehensive enhancement of the services
and information security management HKIRC provides. The
HKIRC team is fully committed to ensuring that staff members
handle customer information in accordance with the industry best
practice.

FEEZR:

HKIRCER I RIS BB AL B - B TR A5
B NKIHG @ W RSB LR E - &
MW HKIRCA.hk M BB ERRZ BTSN
2IE o

HKIRC 2 3 a i 2 & % %7 48 U

HKIRCH 12 A #2380 A 5iE5 & B
U LA REE S - B hk@EEA
EH - FED c 2FRE2E THKIRCE R
TENRE - 2t EE A R T SKE R
B ARERNEEESN ARG R %
2RAFHEBRMT  WEEERLBE M
HEARMENED -  SUEANSCEIRBRPE
IABEFHBIBWERE - NERPEE - #hk
WUk et AEHKIRCH EH D EIE A%
B RAEREBRF TERIZEAPER
=+ I (responsive design) * AXIRFHFFH
EREEINEEERNESR

EAREAGHERLFTELEISO
27001 2 &

EREERSOHMMPNEZEMTMAOLE
HKIRCEETE R A2 XA HEBEERER
B Alm c HKIRCEBMPTA .hk/. BHE
ZREARBEEREERY - £ 5B
HEHAY - HKIRCEBR BN EARIERER
BAXEES  E—TPEARBERZ %2
MEBEMRERER  BERBTEAREE
Z % (DNSSEC) ~ B kA FH I HRE -

SEHHKIRCME N2 —EHEERERE -
HKIRCK BB EMRLZEERARESR
o BEBAL2I1S027001:R % » BRi51SO
REBTE THKIRCEEANLZ2EE MRS b
—ENBERENEIKRE - HKIRC E B 5 #
BRHBREITEREAS - BEPIRERS -
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2019 Digital Marketplace Seminar — “The Rise of
an Era: loT and Cyber Security”

The 11th Digital Marketplace Seminar (DMP) was held
successfully on 28 August 2019. Themed “The Rise of an Era: loT
and Cyber Security”, the seminar discussed the market prospects
of Internet of Things (loT) on the lifestyle of consumers and the
business model of merchants, as well as explored the cyber
security challenges and opportunities associated with loT usage.

Experts from ASTRI, Forcepoint, KPMG, Microsoft, PwC,
SmarTone, Towngas, The Hongkong and Shanghai Hotels
and UDomain were invited to speak on interesting user-case
of different industry sectors during the seminar. Around 400
participants gathered to share first-hand insights and the latest
development of oT.

DMP Survey “Internet of Things - Users’
Awareness of Security”

To explore the market prospects of loT technology adoptions in
Hong Kong, including the public perceptions, user behaviours
and experience, an online survey was conducted on commission
with the Internet Society Hong Kong in July 2019. Over 600
complete responses from local enterprises and individuals have
been collected successfully, with around half of the company
respondents have leveraged |oT devices in the business settings
and over 60% of individual respondents have used IoT devices.

The survey revealed that although loT products have long been
largely attainable among the general public and enterprises,
both parties showed limited awareness of loT-associated security
issues. More than 20% company respondents and about 40%
of individual respondents suspected that they might have
experienced data breach on their loT devices, reflecting that
there is a need to strengthen the awareness and public education
of 10T security expeditiously.

Highlights of the Year
FEEZR

2019 F BB T BN E — [ RHRER
WEE @ Y EEERE S

F11EHBE IS = (DMP)R 201948 A
28 HEIWERTT o izt st & AT BHZ R IR AR -
MIBBEEBRETE | BER  SRPEE(T)
EEEEEAARBPEERANTISA
5 WK BABACRTROBET 2 HE
BB o

ZHMNEEEREEAEAREFAER -
Forcepoint «+ £5 - #X « & KRIKE - &
WHiEm - BERERR BELIRNEENAR
UDomainfER - W TRTENEBREF
EZREERER - V400BEHEEERF -2 5
ZYBENE —FREBRETEE -

BBTERE - WHARAERE ]

ABRRVBERNEESBRANMSITR
RBEE - BPITAKRER  HKIRCEZEE
BHEERERN2019F7 BETR LAS -
WA ISR T 860015 2R B ¥ R EA RS -
HPM ¥R ERTITBARER L
EIERAYBERE  mEaKEAAZFED
FEFRYS BN

HERR  MATREREERCEBYHS
Emc AIHERRLBAMER - BMKDEE
RMEBERINREAZGERRTERERY
RERERSEBENE  RREELESE
RIGEAE DAL EBRRLABRHE -
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Highlights of the Year
FEEZR

Best .hk Website Awards 2019

Aiming to bolster creativity, foster adoption of best practices and
raise awareness on web accessibility in website development,
HKIRC has been organising the Awards since 2009 to
applaud and recognise websites with remarkable designs
and comprehensive functionality. This year's competition
garnered around 350 entries under four streams: “Commercial”,
“Non-Commercial”, “Government Department” and “Legislative
Council member”. The award winners were meticulously selected
by a judging panel comprising of industry veterans and thought
leaders. Website entries have been rated on overall website
design and functionality, engagement, use of social media,
and accessibility. These elements are essential for enabling
the participating companies or organizations to achieve service
excellence, as well as benefiting the local online community as a
whole.

HKIRC SME In-depth Website Security Scan
Services and Cyber Security Seminar Series

Cyber-attacks have been significantly on the rise worldwide,
and at the same time the nature of cyber security incidents and
method of targeting potential victims have been getting more
sophisticated. Locally, data privacy and cyber security issues
continue to make headlines from time to time, putting business
and organization of all sizes at risk. In view of these observations,
HKIRC introduced the free SME In-depth Website Security Scan
Services in June to foster a safer Internet environment. Aiming to
assist SME .hk users in identifying and mitigating website security
issues, promote security awareness among SMEs and to share
cyber security best practices, HKIRC would provide a detailed
website security scan report to programme applicants, to be
followed by a conference call consultation session to explain the
report and pinpoint areas of improvement.

Cyber Security Seminars were also held on a monthly basis
during August to December, with themes addressing e-commerce
security, cyber-attack and prevention, cloud services and
platform migration, and web security. Industry experts and
business partners such as KPMG, PwC, HKCERT, Alibaba Cloud,
AWS, Towngas Telecom, CSC, Speedy Group and UDomain
were invited to speak on the proposed topics. The seminar series
serves as an on-going initiative to educate .hk members and
users on knowledge and latest trends on cyber security issues.

2019 F EHE.hkAH LR

B 20094 #E - HKIRC—ENUEBAIE - Rif
¥RBERERIREABRREAARYE &
ERABRRANREBAEEE  AZEERR
BT &EhkBELEE] - ZFFREBSRF D
B R E B ARL - AR E SEE LT 350
AR RE2HE - AEABRNKAR EE -
DRlAIEZE] [FEFE] [BUTHF I R
[MFEe3E | #uh - SHEBIMERE K
MERABRNBHAKNTEEETHRES
EERFAZINBATHAMS - 288
UhE AU R SRR AT M IRE C BRI A -
ERMRHE L EERABETTE - WA
TENERZHEEE - BRI ERR)S#
BIRHEERSE TERE - DEBR AT
MUBNEETE -

HKIRC /N4 35 2 2 17 HH R 1% R 4
BEEHAERT

PHEBEE2RBEE LA SBERF - B
REBEWHME R HBESEEN AN
BREERE AHWEBELBERAKRETH
BT KRAEETE  SOEREETH
A /NAEBRER - R Rt - HKIRCH6 A
HEHEERNCRUYTE2RERE €8S
ZEHREIRE - HKIRC ATl BB E R M
HEMRMT2FERS - BB R/ hkA
FPHAERERELZ2ME  IReR /D
ZEEBEMDEZMEBEREEEER - UUE

ARERENRRELFRENT

N8AE12 A8 - HKIRCE A RITHEE
ZEMEEe  FEBRETEHERS - @K%
B BEmRE R BRUAREBRE -
REESH BEFKE BEEERELSE
WIHEAL  EE - AWS - ZRBE -
CSC - BEEE R UDomainETEERLE
EAERHERRBZNEERT - 2R
Mg A —EEENE  BEHRE hkGEK
BEEBBERETNME M FIIBE -

@ HONG KONG INTERNET REGISTRATION CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019



Web Accessibility Recognition Scheme

With the aim to recognise local enterprises and organisation
for adopting accessibility design in their websites and mobile
applications, the “Web Accessibility Recognition Scheme
2018-2019" was organised by HKIRC, with the Office of
Government Chief Information Officer (OGCIO) acting as
co-organiser, and with the Equal Opportunities Commission (EOC)
as an independent advisor. An award presentation ceremony was
held in January 2019 to commend organisations for their ongoing
dedication and contribution to accomplish digital inclusion locally.
To encourage enterprises and organisations of all sizes to enroll
in the scheme, the Friendly Website, and Friendly Mobile App
categories were added to each stream for this year, providing
entry-level recognition for young enterprises and organisations.
Not only the good coding practices of web accessibility design
allow online services easier to maintain, it also narrows the digital
divide between those with special needs and the general public,
building a caring and inclusive society.

iStudent Programme

To promote the use of .hk domain names as well as proper use of
the Internet among younger generation in Hong Kong, HKIRC has
been running the iStudent Programme since 2018, sponsoring
free .idv.hk domain names for 3 years to local students. Some
schools are incorporating website building into their ICT
curriculum, while some encourage students to create their own
personal online presences to express themselves and unleash
their creativity and potential.

Expert Knowledge Sharing and Support for Other
Industry Events and Associations

Being the administering organization of a critical Internet
infrastructure of Hong Kong, HKIRC has long been devoted to
promoting the usage of Internet-related technology and its best
practices to improve the overall connectivity and security of .hk
landscape. Over the course of the year, HKIRC participated in
various speaking opportunities to share the company’s views
on Internet security risks with regards to domain names, and
to promote awareness on DNS and web security. Through the
active participation in seminars, conferences and sharing groups,
HKIRC has developed a close relationship with experts and
associations in various industry sectors, including the Association
of I.T. Leaders in Education (“AiTLE"), Cyberport, the Hong
Kong Council of Social Service ("HKCSS"), the Hong Kong Retail
Management Association, the Internet Economy Summit, Cloud
Expo Asia, Speedy Group, and more.

Highlights of the Year
FEEZR

EERAERE

HKIRCT #2018 & 2019F EEEHH A 5=
el B ERGAEUERBERREFF
RAEERSAO S ERARE  BFE
AR AER AT (OGCIO) L FEHE L8
G(EOC) D BIEEH I8 KB L RS - 8
MR 201951 A&7 BEREG RN
BOERBEARMBBHABNESH - 5F
FESERER TR KEEY REEARE
NIZTRBREAPIRRE TS
o UNEBAEE S TRAERN D RAER
2HEHED  c HARTNEERMERTRD
HATESRIERBESEE  NREEE
BREZATEHRNRZEOEERE  mEE
MEIERRMTE -

iStudent:zt 2|

HKIRC B 2018 F ##1TiStudentzt 8l * § 7
MEEFE —REEFEH ki E LEBE
BENEEER EOHAMBEIFREBF
F.idv.hkigi & o B L EBRIR IE #5532 37 480k 4
AHEE AR RBA(ICT)RE - eSS
BELAREARLFES  UREACHE
BREBRIENREN -

EXABTERUEMTRES R
BN

HKIRCIEABEEZHHBEB R EHER
g REIAR—ERNAEES ARG
FREANEMEREER - LE hkKIRED
BEERERLTEMN £ HKIRCEEX
BLHZERE  DEAAHOBEEHEAL
ZRABMNER  WHEREZEES(DNS) &
WHRLT 2R o HKIRCE BIEHR 2 hnf 5
g SEEZRIBNEETFRITENER
kB eEIEIBEE  BREEMBEHEE
WiHBE (AITLE) « 8U5% - B L ehEEe
(HKCSS) - 4T E TR HE - GHELE
¥ - Cloud Expo Asia * IREREBSE -
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HKIRC further supported various industry events and associations
by sponsoring .hk domain names for startups and youth sectors,
encouraging them to make good use of online platform to
build their unique web presence and grow their e-businesses.
Beneficiaries included Cyberport incubatees, Hong Kong Social
Enterprise Challenge, Hong Kong Science and Technology Parks
TecOne incubates and Microsoft Startup.

Regional and International Co-operation

As the custodian of a critical Internet infrastructure in Hong
Kong, HKIRC has to be at the forefront of developments related
to the Internet domain name system. Involvement in regional and
international fora of the domain name industry is an important
task of HKIRC, ensuring to adopt the global best practice on
effectively managing Internet domain name resource and respond
to the constantly evolving market needs timely.

. ICANN

Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Number
(“ICANN") is a non-profit-making multi-stakeholder
organization headquartered in Los Angeles. Its primary
mission is to maintain the security and stability of the
Internet Protocol addressing and Internet domain name
system, and to administer the allocation of Internet
Protocol addresses and top-level domains. HKIRC has
sent delegates to attend the ICANN 64 meeting held in
Kobe, ICANN 65 meeting held in Marrakech and ICANN
66 meeting held in Montreal to keep abreast of the global
Internet policy development. HKIRC staff also participated
in different working groups such as ccNSO (Country Code
Names Supporting Organisation) of ICANN.

. CDNC

Chinese Domain Name Consortium (“CDNC”) is an
independent non-profit organization to facilitate the
communication and coordination regarding the technical
standards and policies of the Chinese Domain Name
System. It was founded by CNNIC (China Internet Network
Information Centre), TWNIC (Taiwan Network Information
Centre), HKIRC and MONIC (Macao Network Information
Centre) in 2000. With the help of language experts in
Hong Kong, Taiwan and the mainland China, more Hong
Kong characters will be made available for domain
registration. Moreover, with the concerted effort by CDNC
members, increasing email servers in the world can now
support email address configured in Chinese language.
CDNC members will keep on working together to promote
the adoption of Chinese domain name globally. HKIRC
attended the CDNC meeting in Taipei in September 2019.
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APTLD

Asia Pacific Top Level Domain Association (“APTLD”) is
a regional body consisting of the ccTLD managers in the
Asia Pacific region. Its mission is to facilitate exchange
of knowledge and experience to help ccTLD managers
achieve world best practices. HKIRC has been supporting
continuously part of the secretariat work of APTLD.
Delegates of HKIRC attended APTLD76 meeting held in
Malaysia in September 2019.

APIRA

Asia Pacific Internet Research Alliance (“APIRA”) is a
non-profit organization aiming to enhance communication
and the sharing of result amongst Asia Pacific region
on the Internet information, deepen the research on
statistical techniques of the Internet information, facilitate
the cooperation among Asia-Pacific countries and regions
on the Internet information. Its members include CNNIC,
Korea Internet Security Agency (“KISA”), TWNIC, Malaysian
Communications and Multimedia Commission (“MCMC"),
Macao Association for Internet Research, City University of
Hong Kong, and more. HKIRC attended the APIRA meeting
held in Taipei in December 2019 and presented the survey
result of Internet of Things usage habits and situation in
Hong Kong with the fellow APIRA members.

The World Internet Conference

The World Internet Conference, also known as the Wuzhen
Summit, is an annual event organized by the Cyberspace
Administration of China since 2014 to discuss key global
Internet issues and governance. The 6th World Internet
Conference was held in October, with the theme being “#&
FREPHREHGELRE--Building a Community with a
Shared Future in Cyberspace”. The summit was supported
by the United Nations Department of Economic and Social
Affairs, the International Telecommunication Union and
other key players in the Internet fora. The conference
touched on hot topics such as 5G technology, Al, fintech,
cross-regional Internet trends and policies steering, and
more. HKIRC was invited to attend the Summit as one of
the delegates representing Hong Kong.

Highlights of the Year
FEEZR
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Highlights of the Year
FEEZR

Key Milestones of HKIRC in 2019
HKIRC 2019 BB E &

Web Accessibility Recognition Scheme
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Annual General Meeting 2019
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Best .hk Website Awards
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“Internet of Things — Users’ Awareness of Security” Survey
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Corporate Governance

Designated by the Government of HKSAR to administer the .hk
domain, a public resource of the Hong Kong community, HKIRC
endeavours to implement good corporate governance within the
organisation to ensure that the administration is conducted in an
open, transparent and fair manner.

Memorandum of Understanding and Designation
Agreement

The Company signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) and
a Designation Agreement (DA) with the government of HKSAR on 17
March 2010.

Consultative and Advisory Panel (CAP)

The CAP met on 18 June 2019 and 17 December 2019. Advisors
from different sectors have been invited to sit on the CAP and
advise HKIRC on policy issues and matters which help HKIRC serve
the local Internet community better.
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CAPX2019%6 18 H 20195128 17H AR
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Attendance of Board and Committee Meetings (From 1 January to 31 December 2019)

EERKZERERLERS (H2019F181HE12A31H)

Board

Board Members

EERRE

Meetings

ExRES

Mr. Simon CHAN Sai Ming (Chairman)
BRABPAE A& (E/F)

Prof. Erwin HUANG (Deputy Chairman)
BEEXKHE (BIXFFE)

Mr. Leo KAN Kin Leung (Deputy Chairman)
WREREE (BIERF)

100% (5/5)

60% (3/5)

100% (5/5)

Prof. Francis CHIN Yuk Lun 80% (4/5)
Mr. Stephen HO Wai Chung 80% (4/5)
@ sEsE
Mr. Gabriel PANG Tsz Kit 100% (5/5)
TTHEE
Dr. Wendy LEE Woon Ming 80% (4/5)
FIMERE
Mr. Ben LI Ming Pan (from 16 May 2019) 100% (3/3)

5S4 (20195 A 16 B 4E)
Mr. Lento YIP Yuk Fai (till 16 May 2019)
HEABIE S 4 (220195 8168 1F)

100% (2/2)

Audit Executive
Committee Committee
Meetings Meetings
RBZEEEEE HOTZERESZER
NA 100% (2/2)

NA 0% (0/2)

100% (4/4) 100% (2/2)
100% (4/4) NA
100% (4/4) NA
100% (4/4) 50% (1/2)
NA 100% (2/2)

NA NA

NA NA
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Directors’ Report

EERBEE

The directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report
together with the audited financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019.

Principal place of business

Hong Kong Internet Registration Corporation Limited (“the
Company”) is a company incorporated and domiciled in Hong
Kong and has its registered office and principal place of business
at Unit 501, Level 5, Core C, Cyberport 3, 100 Cyberport Road,
Hong Kong.

Principal activity

The principal activity of the Company and its subsidiary (“the
Group”) is to administer the registration system for all levels of
internet domain names under the Hong Kong country-code top
level domain “.hk” and its equivalents. This includes, among other
tasks, the development and maintenance of a self-regulatory
policy framework for the administration of internet domain names
under the “.hk” and “.&&” country-code top level domains, and
providing “.hk” and “.&%" domain names resolution services.
The Company also promotes, for the benefit of the Hong Kong
community, a better understanding and use of the internet
and related technology. The Company is a non-profit making
organisation undertaking the above activities in the context of
a Memorandum of Understanding with the Government of Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region dated 17 March 2010.

The principal activity and other particulars of a subsidiary are set
out in note 8 to the financial statements.

Financial statements

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 and
the state of the Group’s and the Company’s affairs as at that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 39 to 83.

Under the provisions of the Company’'s Memorandum of
Association, accumulated funds of the Company are not available
for distribution to members and are to be used solely for
promotion of the objects of the Company.
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In relation to the increase in the bank balance in financial year
2019 compared with financial year 2018, the directors are
obliged to draw readers’ attention to the fact that part of the
bank balance is actually deferred registration income which
can only be realised in the future according to a clearly defined
time schedule (see note 12 to the financial statements). Also,
such increase does not indicate a trend for the coming years.
The Management and Board of the Group and the Company will
continue to manage the Group'’s and the Company'’s finances with
due regard to its public mission, planned institutional changes
and stakeholder expectations. These include, for example, the
financial implications arising from the Registry/Registrar model
and the need for investments in the Group’s and the Company’s
technology and support infrastructure in order to provide
business-friendly, secure and robust domain name registration
services.

Charitable donations

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to HK$Nil (2018: HK$1,000).

Directors

The directors during the financial year were:

Mr. Simon CHAN Sai Ming (Chairman)

Prof. Erwin HUANG (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Leo KAN Kin Leung (Deputy Chairman)
(resigned on 22 April 2020)

Prof. Francis CHIN Yuk Lun

Mr. Stephen HO Wai Chung

Mr. Gabriel PANG Tsz Kit

Dr. Wendy LEE Woon Ming

Mr. Ben LI Ming Pan (appointed on 16 May 2019)

Mr. Lento YIP Yuk Fai (resigned on 16 May 2019)

In accordance with Article 37 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Prof. Erwin HUANG and Mr. Gabriel PANG Tsz Kit
will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The directors of the Company’s subsidiary, Hong Kong Domain
Name Registration Company Limited, during the year and up to
the date of this report are the same as the Company as set out
above.

At no time during the year was the Company or its subsidiary a
party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debenture of the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ Report
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Directors’ Report

EZRHRES

Indemnity of directors

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the directors
of the Company is currently in force and was in force throughout
this year.

Directors’ interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the Company or its subsidiary was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

Auditors

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as
auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

By order of the board
Chan Sai Ming
Chairman

27 March 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Hong Kong Internet Registration Corporation Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability by guarantee)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hong
Kong Internet Registration Corporation Limited (“the Company”)
and its subsidiary (together “the Group”) set out on pages 39
to 83, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2019, the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2019 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (‘HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Company in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (‘the Code”) and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BYRHEHREE

Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and auditor’s report thereon (continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibility of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.
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Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BYRHEHREE

Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the BB AEMBHRRALENESR

consolidated financial statements (continued) (&)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content o
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the .
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

FHEFAMERRNBERIIRTA - &
BNMAR > BREEE  ARGEAVBR
EETERRIHMER °

F EEEANERAXBETHNTBE
BEDGE - @ENETRE  NEY
HEMBHRERERER - AMAE =B
SEHFEANITM - EEMRT - AR
BB AAERMEE -

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other FREMBIEAEIN HMEBFEZEL/ER 7130
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant ~ F:T#E - KEALH  ERFAERT - BFER
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal  7EE &t a8 Bl AR HI A9 (E (7] B2 K RPE ©

control that we identify during our audit.

KPMG EERETMEEM
Certified Public Accountants DA

8th Floor, Prince’s Building BERERIR

10 Chater Road EITE105%

Central, Hong Kong RFKRE8E

27 March 2020 ZEZTF=ZA=++H
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

GEEmNEMZEKER

for the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-Z-NFTZA=T—-HLEFE (BUBEIIR)

2018

(Note)

(B&E)

Revenue E 2] 2 $ 35,539,038 $ 36,232,134
Other net income Eabug A 3 4,316,282 3,456,225

$ 39,855,320 $ 39,688,359

Expenses before public mission KA DBREDFTHRITEN

activities expenses and s

depreciation
Staff costs Ry #N 4(b) (16,757,741) (14,324,720
Office costs /NN (2,434,835) (4,037,698)
Marketing costs %K A (832,357) (721,009)
IT & networks costs BB MR A A (1,720,354) (1,697,672)
Other costs E b A (4,052,539) (3,552,382)

$ (25,797,826) $ (24,333,481)

Operating profit before public mission Kt AR FEHEHRITEN

activities expenses and depreciation &ZZ & 14,057,494 15,354,878
Public mission activities expenses RREIEEFHZ 4(d) (4,108,232) (1,874,294)
Operating profit before depreciation FR&HfF B K E & HEF $ 9,949,262 $ 13,480,584
Depreciation e 4(c) (4,152,299) (2,509,438)
Profit from operations B pEERF 5,796,963 10,971,146
Finance costs B 75 A AR 4(a) (215,298) -
Profit before taxation RRBE AT 2 A 4 5,581,665 10,971,146
Income tax RS 6(a) - -
Profit and total comprehensive AEERMNR 2R

income for the year g 5,581,665 10,971,146

Note: BisE -

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the ZA&EBEER-T—HhE—H—BEBEITEIE
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative & X jEERE B AREERE 165 - BIEZHF -
information is not restated. See note 1(c). LLEERATFES - 2RMIFE1(C) °

The notes on pages 44 to 83 form part of these financial F44EF83EMMFEBARIMBIREN —E5 ©
statements.

EREBESMEEARAT 2010 FEHE @.



Consolidated statement of financial position

e M BARRR

at 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
ZE-AFE+ZA=1T—8 (LUB¥IIR)

Non-current assets ERBEE

Property, plant and equipment Y - BE KR 7 $ 11,964,840 $ 4,553,475

Deposits birecia 9 654,659 507,727
________________________________________________________________________________________ $ 12,619,499 $ 5,061,202

Current assets TREEE

Trade and other receivables 7 AT BR R % EAth e U 5k 9 $ 3,488,663 $ 2,753,361

Cash and cash equivalents BeMREEEY 10 194,591,699 188,227,738
________________________________________________________________________________________ $198,080,362 § 190,981,009

Current liabilities REEE

Other payables H Ath FE 1S 3K 11 $ 7,877,867 $ 6,256,232

Deferred registration income IR E A 12 22,464,366 22,666,017

Lease liabilities HEAE 13 2,759,718 =
________________________________________________________________________________________ $ 33,101,951 $ 28,922,249
_Netcurrentassets rBAEFE $164,978,411 $ 162,058,850
_Total assets less current liabilities ~ HE®ERADEE $177,597,910  $167,120,062

Non-current liabilities FRBEMR

Deferred registration income RFE A 12 $ 19,493,137 $ 19,467,824

Lease liabilities HEAE 13 4,870,880 =
________________________________________________________________________________________ $ 24,364,017 $ 19,467,824

NET ASSETS EEFE $153,233,893 $ 147,652,228

@ HONG KONG INTERNET REGISTRATION CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019



Consolidated statement of financial position

e BRI R

at 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
ZE-NAFFTZAZ=+T—H (UBEIIR)

2018
(Note)
(P 5E)

Representing: Rk -
Retained profits REB R $153,233,893 $147,652,228

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on &#HERR T _ZTF=A - ++HZEXFFA

27 March 2020. i e

Chan Sai Ming Ho Wai Chung Stephen
R 4 BA A&

Chairman Director

e EEa

Note: MEE -

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the AE£BER -_ZT—HE—A—BEREETEIE
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative  EXEREBHERELRIE 165  RIEZITE -
information is not restated. See note 1(c). RERTTFES - 2R M5E1(c) °

The notes on pages 44 to 83 form part of these financial F44EF3EMMTBAMIBERENH—BH -
statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

mEEREER

for the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BEZZ-NFtZA=+—-HLFE (UB%IIR)

Retained

profits

REBEF

(Note)

(PEE)

Balance at 1 January 2018 M2018F1 A1 B H#ER $136,681,082
Change in equity for 2018: R2018FMEZZE :

Profit and total comprehensive income wmA MR SRR 10,971,146
Balance at 31 December 2018 and M2018F12HA31A K

1 January 2019 2019%1 A1 HH&ERR $147,652,228
Change in equity for 2019: R2019F R EE :

Profit and total comprehensive income wA R EE RSB EE 5,581,665

Balance at 31 December 2019 72019512 A31 B4 ek $153,233,893

Note: B5E

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the AEEBER-_ZT—-hE— A - BEBKERIBIE
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative  BREBEEABRELRNE 165 - RIFZH =
information is not restated. See note 1(c). HEERATES - 2RM5E1(c) °

The notes on pages 44 to 83 form part of these financial F44Z%E83EMMABAIBHMEN—FH ©
statements.
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Consolidated cash flow statement

GERTRER

for the year ended 31 December 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHEC-Z

Operating activities R
Profit before taxation BR A% Al 71
Adjustments: FED
Depreciation e
Interest income FEUA
Loss on disposal of property, BEWME  BEK
plant and equipment BEEENEES
Finance costs BTG AR

—hF+ZA=+T—-BLFE (LLBHIIR)

2018
(Note)

(K &E)

$ 5,581,665 $ 10,971,146

4(c) 4,152,299 2,509,438

3 (3,913,605)  (2,763,480)
4(c) 19,026 5,000
4(a) 215,298 -

Operating profit before changes in & EE B F a7 L BRI
working capital

$ 6,054,683 $ 10,722,104

Increase in trade and other receivables &k 5% 5 EL ftb & USRI i (882,234) (579,269)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables E &I FI& M (R4 1,621,635 (227,492)
Decrease in deferred registration IRFE U AR A

income (176,338) (291,229)
Cash generated from operations REMBRE $ 6,617,746 $ 9,624,114
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded B EIBBFIEH - 69,522
Net cash generated from REEKFRBERS

__._operating activites = mE $ 6,617,746 $ 9,693,636

Investing activities REEE
Interest received B U F 8 $ 3,913,605 $ 2,763,480
Increase in bank deposits maturing im BREB A3 ME A B HA A

after three months when placed $R1T17 FRIE AN (24,728,420) (19,120,554)
Proceeds from disposal of property, BEEYE  BEE&EN

plant and equipment e - 15,000
Payment for purchase of property, BEYE BER

plant and equipment JABT IR (2,446,528) (723,969)

Net cash used in investing activities REEZEFTABE S FHE

$ (23,261,343) $ (17,066,043)

Financing activities mEEE

Capital element of lease rentals paid ~ EfHASERE

12
Interest element of lease rentals paid 2 RHEEFEILH

) $ (1,505,564) $ -
10(b) (215,298) -

_Net cash used in financing activities BEEBIARLFHE  ~ (1,720862) -
Net decrease in cash and cash He MReEEYR A F58
equivalents $ (18,364,459) $ (7,372,407)
Cash and cash equivalents MA1EHNEER
at 1 January HEeZEEY 26,095,888 33,468,295
Cash and cash equivalents R12A31HHNEER
at 31 December REEEY 10 $ 7,731,429 $ 26,095,888
Note: MI3E -

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative
information is not restated. See note 1(c).

The notes on pages 44 to 83 form part of these financial
statements.

AEEER-_T-NF—A—-BERRETENE
BRERTBMBRESENF 165 - RiFZHE
HERERATES - 2R M5E1(c)

FAAEFIAMM B AP BIHEN —& D

O
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Br RS SRR MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LLE#5IR )

1

Significant accounting policies

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. Significant accounting policies adopted
by Hong Kong Internet Registration Corporation
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiary (together
referred to as “the Group”) are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period of
the Group. Note 1(c) provides information on any
changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that
they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these financial
statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019 comprise the Company
and its subsidiary.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
the financial statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS ER R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA8#5%I7R )
1 FESFTER (8)

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS, HKFRS 16,
Leases, and a number of amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group.

Except for HKFRS 16, Leases, none of the
developments have had a material effect on how the
Group's results and financial position for the current
or prior periods have been prepared or presented.
The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

HKFRS 16, Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17, Leases, and the
related interpretations, HK(IFRIC) 4, Determining
whether an arrangement contains a lease, HK(SIC)
15, Operating leases -incentives, and HK(SIC) 27,
Evaluating the substance of transactions involving
the legal form of a lease. It introduces a single
accounting model for lessees, which requires a
lessee to recognise a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability for all leases, except for leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less (“short-term
leases”) and leases of low-value assets. The lessor
accounting requirements are brought forward from
HKAS 17 substantially unchanged.

(b)

(c)

O
EREMAZMERERLT 2019 FEHRSE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS RAR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB#5IR )

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(¢) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements which aim to
enable users of the financial statements to assess
the effect that leases have on the financial position,
financial performance and cash flows of an entity.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as from
1 January 2019. The Group has elected to use the
modified retrospective approach. Comparative
information has not been restated and continues to

be reported under HKAS 17.

Further details of the nature and effect of the
changes to previous accounting policies and the
transition options applied are set out below:

a. New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly
relates to the concept of control. HKFRS 16
defines a lease on the basis of whether a
customer controls the use of an identified
asset for a period of time, which may be
determined by a defined amount of use.
Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from that use.

The Group applies the new definition of a
lease in HKFRS 16 only to contracts that
were entered into or changed on or after
1 January 2019. For contracts entered
into before 1 January 2019, the Group has
used the transitional practical expedient to
grandfather the previous assessment of which
existing arrangements are or contain leases.
Accordingly, contracts that were previously
assessed as leases under HKAS 17 continue
to be accounted for as leases under HKFRS
16 and contracts previously assessed as
non-lease service arrangements continue to
be accounted for as executory contracts.

1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS ER R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LUE#57R )
1 FEEHBX ()

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

b

Lessee accounting and transitional
impact

HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a
lessee to classify leases as either operating
leases or finance leases, as was previously
required by HKAS 17. Instead, the Group is
required to capitalise all leases when it is the
lessee, including leases previously classified
as operating leases under HKAS 17, other
than those short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets which are exempt. As far
as the Group is concerned, these newly
capitalised leases are primarily in relation to
property, plant and equipment as disclosed in
note 7. For an explanation of how the Group
applies lessee accounting, see note 1(f)(i).

At the date of transition to HKFRS 16 (i.e.,
1 January 2019), the Group determined
the length of the remaining lease terms
and measured the lease liabilities for the
leases previously classified as operating
leases at the present value of the remaining
lease payments, discounted using the
relevant incremental borrowing rates at 1
January 2019. The weighted average of
the incremental borrowing rates used for
determination of the present value of the
remaining lease payments was 5.375%.

To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the Group
applied the following recognition exemption
and practical expedients at the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16:

(i) the Group elected not to apply the
requirements of HKFRS 16 in respect
of the recognition of lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets to leases for
which the remaining lease term ends
within 12 months from the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16, i.e., where
the lease term ends on or before 31
December 2019; and

(c)

EEEHRAZMEEERLF

EHBENR I ()
b, AMARIEERBE

BBV R EERIFE 16 EUE &
MABHESEACEHENT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS RAR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB#5IR )

1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 1 FESHEX (&)
(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued) (c) SEFHENE (E

b. Lessee accounting and transitional b. FAEAGFERERAE

impact (continued) T2 (&)
(i) when measuring the lease liabilities (iy EINEREBUH
at the date of initial application of HAERFE 165
HKFRS 16, the Group applied a single BXRRABRAE
discount rate to a portfolio of leases BER  AEEH
with reasonably similar characteristics BAAEMAER
(such as leases with a similar remaining WIHEHREE (Hla
lease term for a similar class of PRER DU B 3R 3R
underlying asset in a similar economic BREUEEEER
environment). B B R HIES
WHE)EAE—
The following table reconciles the operating TREFHT17IHE S
lease commitments as disclosed in note 17 as RZE-—NFE+ZA=+
at 31 December 2018 to the opening balance — Rz REREAEER
for lease liabilities recognised as at 1 January —ZE-NAF-A-H®ER
2019: ZHEABNBYERY

BE -

1 January 2019

ZE-hE
—A—A8
Operating lease commitments at RZZE—-\F+ZA=+—H2
31 December 2018 TR E R $ 6,146,604
Less: commitments relating to leases i : EEHAREANLZ
exempt from capitalisation: THEBEAE -
— short-term leases and other — RHITAE K FIS TR
leases with remaining lease RZE—NEF
term ending on or before +-—A=+—H=%z
31 December 2019 RilfEim 2 EiEE (1,745,355)
- leases of low-value assets - KEBEEEHE (38,040)
$ 4,363,209
Less: total future interest expenses W ARRH B A (383,415)
Present value of remaining lease FRZZ-hF—H—-AzZ
payments discounted using HEEFAEIR 2
the incremental borrowing rate BT HENFIEE
at 1 January 2019 $ 3,979,794
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS ER R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA8#5%I7R )

1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 1 FESHEX (&)
(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued) (c) SEFHENE (E
b. Lessee accounting and transitional b. AMBAGTEEIBE
impact (continued) T2 (&)
The right-of-use assets in relation to leases ERIDERKEHE 2
previously classified as operating leases EHBAEREEEDER
have been recognised at an amount equal AFHBNEERE Wik
to the amount recognised for the remaining HR—ZE-—NF+A=
lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of +—HWERE BRI E
any prepaid or accrued lease payments HRHNEEBE 2 EMTE
relating to that lease recognised in the NekEHEN RS EE
consolidated statement of financial position at THE -

31 December 2018.

The following table summarises the impacts TERBURER A B BB B R
of the adoption of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s HAEAE 165 H AR K EER
consolidated statement of financial position: B BRARTE

Carrying  Capitalisation Carrying
amount at of operating amount at
31 December lease 1 January

2018 contracts 2019
RZE—N\F RZZ—NE
+=-A=+—-H B —H—HK
HAREE HEAH REE

Line items in the consolidated FHR#HAFBHBRE

statement of financial ERIE165E 2N
position impacted by the ZEMBEMRRE
adoption of HKFRS 16: HE

Property, plant and equipment %1% - BE K &E $ 4553475 $ 3,979,794 $ 8,533,269

Total non-current assets kRBDEELE 5,061,202 3,979,794 9,040,996
Lease liabilities (current) HEAE(RE) = 1,280,245 1,280,245
Current liabilities REBEE 28,922,249 1,280,245 30,202,494
Net current assets REBEEFE 162,058,850 (1,280,245) 160,778,605

Total assets less current EELABERREBAE

liabilities 167,120,052 2,699,549 169,819,601
Lease liabilities (non-current) HEEE GERE) - 2,699,549 2,699,549
Total non-current liabilities  FAREBEBEHLE 19,467,824 2,699,549 22,167,373
Net assets BERE $147,652,228 $ - $147,652,228

O
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS RAR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB#5IR )

1

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

C.

Impact on the financial result and cash
flows of the Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities as at 1 January
2019, the Group as a lessee is required to
recognise interest expense accrued on the
outstanding balance of the lease liability, and
the depreciation of the right-of-use asset,
instead of the previous policy of recognising
rental expenses incurred under operating
leases on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. This results in a positive impact on
the reported profit from operations in the
Group’s statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, as compared to the
results if HKAS 17 had been applied during
the year.

In the cash flow statement, the Group as a
lessee is required to split rentals paid under
capitalised leases into their capital element
and interest element. These elements are
classified as financing cash outflows, similar
to how leases previously classified as finance
leases under HKAS 17 were treated, rather
than as operating cash outflows, as was the
case for operating leases under HKAS 17.
Although total cash flows are unaffected, the
adoption of HKFRS 16 therefore results in a
significant change in presentation of cash
flows within the cash flow statement.

1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS ER R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LUE#57R )
1 FEEHBX ()

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed or
has right, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only
substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and
cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in
preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gain but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made
to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are
made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of
a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or
joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS RAR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB#5IR )

1

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets arising from leases of underlying property,
plant and equipment (see note 1(f)), is stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment, less
their estimated residual value, if any, using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives
as follows:

- Office machinery and 3 years
equipment

- Furniture and fixtures 3 - 6 years

- Network and computer 3 years

hardware/software and
equipment

- Right-of-use assets are
depreciated over the unexpired
term of lease

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value,
if any, are reviewed annually.

The carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment are reviewed for indications of impairment
at the end of each reporting period. An impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to
which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount of an asset, or of the cash
generating unit to which it belongs, is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is reversed if there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS ER R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA8#5%I7R )

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date
of retirement or disposal.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

(i) As a lessee

(A)  Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each
lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single
lease component for all leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS RAR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB#5IR )

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

(A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019
(continued)

At the lease commencement date,
the Group recognises a right-of-use
asset and a lease liability, except for
short-term leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on
a lease-by-lease basis. The lease
payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised
are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the
lease liability is initially recognised
at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease
term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease
liability is measured at amortised cost
and interest expense is calculated
using the effective interest method.
Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the
lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period
in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS ER R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LUE#57R )

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Leased assets (continued)

(i) As a lessee (continued)

(A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019
(continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised
when a lease is capitalised is initially
measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at
or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred.
Where applicable, the cost of the
right-of-use assets also includes an
estimate of costs to dismantle and
remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, discounted
to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see notes 1(e)).

The lease liability is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease
payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or there is a
change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When
the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS RAR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB#5IR )

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

(A)

(B)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019
(continued)

In the statement of financial position,
the Group presents right-of-use assets
within the same line item as similar
underlying assets and presents lease
liabilities separately.

Policy applicable prior to 1 January
2019

In the comparative period, as a
lessee the Group classified leases as
finance leases if the leases transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the Group. Leases
which did not transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group were classified as operating
leases.

Where the Group had the use of other
assets held under operating leases,
payments made under the leases
were charged to profit or loss in
equal instalments over the accounting
periods covered by the lease term,
except where an alternative basis was
more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased
asset. Lease incentives received were
recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments made. Contingent rentals
were charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they were
incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS ER R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LUE#57R )
1 FEEHBX ()

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(9)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only
the passage of time is required before payment
of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration, the amount is
presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses as determined below:

The loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime expected credit losses (“ECLs"),
which are those losses that are expected to occur
over the expected life of the trade receivables.
The loss allowance is estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors and an assessment of both the current
and forecast general economic conditions at the
reporting date.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date with
any changes recognised as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of trade and other
receivables through a loss allowance account.

The gross carrying amount of a trade debtor or other
receivable is written off (either partially or in full)
to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have assets
or sources of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.

(9)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS RAR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB#5IR )

1

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(h)

)

Other payables and contract liabilities
(i) Other payables

Other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and subsequently stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost.

(iiy  Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see note 1(m)). A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would be
recognised (see note 1(Q)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS ER R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LUE#57R )
1 FEEHBX ()

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(k)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax
are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred
tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits. Apart from differences which
arise on initial recognition of assets and liabilities,
all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the asset can
be utilised, are recognised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS RAR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB#5IR )

1

Significant accounting policies (continued)

)

(m)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions
are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when
it arises from the provision of services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a service
is transferred to the customer at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on the behalf of third parties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS ER R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA8#5%I7R )

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(m)

(n)

Revenue and other income (continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i)

(iif)

Registration fees income

Registration fees income is recognised
over time on a straight-line basis over the
registration period of one to five years.
Fees received relating to future periods are
classified as deferred registration income
in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Service fees income

Service fees income is recognised based on
the performance obligation identified in the
contract with customers.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
under the effective interest method using the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies and non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS RAR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB#5IR )

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(o) Related parties

(a)

A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

(i)

(i)

(iif)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions apply:

(i)

(i)

The entity and the Group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group.

1 TEEFHE (F)

(o) FEEtE

(a)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS ER R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA8#5%I7R )

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(o) Related parties (continued)

(b)

(continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

1 FEEHBEX (&)
(o) FEAEET (&)
(b) (#&)

(vi)

(viiy kit
i

(vii) ZEBEBERD
ERALTREAER
DN SESYNGIES
HEIEE IR R

T AT #F R 5T
SEAZEBNRFHY
SRAALRFRPEN
=B -

O
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS RAR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB#5IR )

2

Revenue

The principal activity of the Company is administrating the
registration of internet domain names under “.hk” and “.&
7" country-code top level domains. The Company provides
registration of domain names through its registrars, one of
which is its wholly-owned subsidiary.

Revenue represents total income from provision of domain
name registration services. The amount of each significant
category of revenue from contracts with customers within
the scope of HKFRS 15 is as follows:

]
ARRAMEBEBREREBHETER
A (B[ hk) R [ BB MEMER -
AN )38 P PR AR A 44 (R —
REZEMBAREEHNEEMERA
A R A AR -

BEFARIEREETMRBE WAL
o KRB BY B REERFE 155 EE
NEZEPIIVHNANNESBEERKRAS
IR

2019 2018

Registration fees EERLIE=
Service fees R &

$ 34,198,422 $ 35,102,860
1,340,616 1,129,274

$ 35,539,038 $ 36,232,134

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising
from contracts with customers in existence at the
reporting date.

As at 31 December 2019, the aggregated amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations under the Company’s existing contracts is
$41,957,503 (2018: $42,133,841). This amount represents
revenue expected to be recognised in the future from
deferred registration income (see note 12).

@ HONG KONG INTERNET REGISTRATION CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS ER R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA8#5%I7R )

Other net income 3 Hag A
2019 2018
Bank interest income RITHBUA $ 3,913,605 $ 2,763,480
Exchange loss, net i 5 B 185 58 (418) 619)
Sundry income HTEUL A 403,095 693,364

$ 4,316,282 $ 3,456,225

Profit before taxation 4  BRBANER
BREATDE A E IR T 5 KA -

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

2018
(Note)
(F=E)
(a) Finance costs (a) BRI
Interest on lease liabilities HEHERNE
(note 10(b)) (FFzE10(b)) $ 215,298 $ =
Note: I -

AEBEER-_T-AF-A-REREE
RIBWMEERERBERYBRELRFE 16
5o RIBRZDE  LBERATEY - 2
SMEE1(c) °

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using
the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
comparative information is not restated. See note 1(c).

O
BROBAEIMEER/MRAT 2019 FERE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS RAR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB#5IR )

4  Profit before taxation (continued) 4 RREL AR (48)
2019 2018
(b)  Staff costs (b) EBIRK
Contributions to defined contribution AEHFERETEIW
retirement plan R $ 423,393 $ 429,783
Salaries, wages and other benefits e IENREMEA 16,334,348 13,894,937
$ 16,757,741 $ 14,324,720
(c) Other items (c) HfhEHE
Depreciation charge (note 7) TERX (E7)
— owned property, plant and —HENYE - BER
equipment B $ 2,557,790 $ 2,509,438
- right-of-use assets* — (AR E" 1,594,509 -
$ 4,152,299 $ 2,509,438
Total minimum lease payments ERIBER ST 4L
for leases previously FATHRDEREE
classified as operating lease HEMNHENRE
under HKAS 17*: HER K@
- office —WAE $ - $ 1,986,906
— equipment and facilities — BN - 1,589,800
Auditor’s remuneration %S B E &
— audit services — BFHRT 212,900 206,700
— tax services — TSR % 52,000 50,500
Loss on disposal of property, BEEME  BE R
plant and equipment Bk S 19,026 5,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS ER R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA8#5%I7R )

4 Profit before taxation (continued) 4 RREL AR (48)
(c) Other items (continued) (c) HfEHE (&)

(d)

* The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the
modified retrospective approach and adjusted the
opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise
right-of-use assets relating to leases which were
previously classified as operating leases under
HKAS 17. After initial recognition of right-of-use
assets at 1 January 2019, the Group as a lessee
is required to recognise the depreciation of
right-of-use assets, instead of the previous policy
of recognising rental expenses incurred under
operating leases on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Under this approach, the comparative
information is not restated. See note 1(c).

Public mission activities expenses

Public mission activities expenses represent
the expenses incurred in respect of public
mission activities including the Web Accessibility
Recognition Scheme, the Cybersecurity project, and
the Web Accessibility study. Public mission activities
of the Group are to organise, co-organise, fund,
seed, sponsor and co-sponsor activities to make
Hong Kong an inclusive and secured environment
for the use of the internet, and to encourage the use
of the internet and related technologies. All direct
expenses incurred for the primary and dominant
purpose of public mission and that contribute to the
successful running of public mission activities are
considered as public mission activities expenses.

(d)

* AEBEBRAKEED
EDERERE B BHE
ERIFE165F - WRHER
E-NE—-A-ANHNE
BARERNRBERTESSR
ERIFE17TRDBREER
ENEHHERREAEE
E-R-_E-—NF—A—H
MTHERBEREEER - &
SEH(EREBA) AER
CRBEENE  MIFRE
NEREEEREMALE
HEEENEERNX ZK
o RIEZDE - LRER
AFEY| - 2R ME1(Cc)

DNBREBFBFX

RREREBERREEERS
ERifatdl BRL2EARE
ERAEMESAREH M
EENER AEBEARERD
mBEEBAR  KEAR &
B IBERT  EHRARE
A EEEEEBRAEERLE
B —EAERERML2RE - I
s B R BB AR R R o B
BEEAAREMASTERMNA
EEUNMERMRARER)
BRINEFNERRBEARLR
e B EM -

O
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS RAR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB#5IR )

5 Directors’ emoluments 5 EEME
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) RIBFBCRaHER) FE383(1) K R(A
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and Part 2 of the Al (RBEERFER) RO E2353k
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of ZESEMeT :

Directors) Regulation are as follows:

2019 2018

Directors’ fees EEHe $ - 3 =
Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind & - 28 R B U - =
Discretionary bonuses 5 RE - -
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIH R - =

6 Income tax in the consolidated statement 6 REEBEREMEZEKRERAT

of profit or loss and other comprehensive )R
income
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) HFEBEBERHMPEKERANT
profit or loss and other comprehensive RHFIES
income
The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2019 is —E-NFNEBFESHEES
calculated at 16.5 % (2018: 16.5%) of the estimated MAEE R ERER T E A
assessable profits for the year. The Company is 16.5% (ZZ—N\F : 16.5%) B
exempted from Hong Kong Profits Tax according to TRETE - RIBCHRBIEN ) E87
section 87 of the Inland Revenue Ordinance. & - R BERRBNEBRE
e
(b) Reconciliation between tax expenses and (b) BEZIHESHEFNIZERAB
accounting profit at applicable tax rate: RTEWHER :
2019 2018
Profit before taxation B4 5% Bl 4 A $ 5,581,665 $ 10,971,146

Notional tax on profit before taxation, IZERTZ16.5%

calculated at 16.5% (2018: 16.5%) ZE—)\F : 16.5%)
ETEBR BRI A 8
BEMIA $ 920,975 $ 1,810,239
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue AR S R TS 5 B (1,178) (122)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not  FIERFIZEIEH
recognised Mg 117,722 (17,528)
Tax effect of profit exempted from o F 1S 80 m F
profits tax (1,037,519)  (1,792,589)
Actual tax expense BEERIEX T $ - $ =

A @ HONG KONG INTERNET REGISTRATION CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS ER R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA8#5%I7R )
7  Property, plant and equipment 7 M - BMERRE

Network and

computer
Office hardware/
Right-of-use machinery and Furniture and  software and

assets equipment fixtures equipment
BER
BAE BB/
EREEE  HERRE LA
Cost: B :
At 31 December 2018 R2018512 4311 $ - § 398196 $ 3751527 $17,120,191 § 21,269,914
Impact on initial application of HERERBARBRE
HKFRS 16 (Note) BB 1652 (i) 3,979,794 = = - 3,979,794
MTdemey2l9  ROOSTAIE N I T I o T A 2T e
Additions BE $ 5,156,368 § 6,000 $ 46,2200 $ 2,394,328 § 7,602,896
Disposals RE = (24,028) (34,400) (2,803,286) (2,861,714)
_M31December2019  K2019%12A%18 § 9136162 § 380168 § 3,763,327 § 16,711,233 $§ 20,990,890
Accumulated depreciation: iHE
At 1 January 2019 1201951718 $ - § 252424 § 1,360,955 § 15,103,060 $ 16,716,439
Charge for the year TEEHE 1,594,509 94,524 730,565 1,732,701 4,152,299
Written back on disposals BERED - (23,635) (15,767)  (2,803,286)  (2,842,688)
_M31December2019  K2019F12A%18 § 1594509 § 323313 § 2075753 S 14032475 § 18,026,050
Net book value: REFE
At 31 December 2019 120194124318 § 7541653 $ 56,855 § 1,687,574 § 2,678,758 $ 11,964,840
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the i AEEFBEALBITENED S
modified retrospective method and adjusted the opening ERE S ISR E R B 169
balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise right-of-use WHER-_ZE—hhE—H—BHH
assets relating to leases which were previously classified PEEBUBLRTIRIER B e
as operating leases under HKAS 17. See note 1(c). BI7THENO B AL HEENSBEE

REMEEE - 2RM1(c) -

O
EREMAZMERERLT 2019 FEHRSE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B ISR R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB#5IR )
7  Property, plant and equipment (continued) 7 M - BERRE (E)

Network and

computer

Office hardware/
machinery and  Furniture and  software and

equipment equipment

Cost: B
At 1 January 2018 R2018F1 A1H § 412,016 $ 3,605688 § 16,637,391 $ 20,655,095
Additions 2E 73,500 145,839 504,630 723,969
Disposals RE (87,320) - (21,830) (109,150)
_At81December2018 R2018%12[318 § 398196 § 3751527 817,120,191 § 21,269,914
Accumulated depreciation: ZIHE
At 1 January 2018 #2018F1 A1H $ 237,015 $ 654,859 § 13,404,277 $ 14,296,151
Charge for the year KEEHE 82,729 706,096 1,720,613 2,509,438
Written back on disposals RERAD (67,320) - (21,830) (89,150)
_At31December2018 M2018F12A31H §_ 252424 $ 1,360,955 §$15103,060 § 16,716,439
Net book value: BRERE
At 31 December 2018 #2018F12 A31H § 145772 $ 2,390,572 $ 2,017,131 $ 4,553,475
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FERAEEE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use RIEEEERMNDITHNERESR
assets by class of underlying asset is as follows: EREFENT

Notes 31 December 1 January

B & 12A31H 181H
2019 2019

Property leased for own use, HE&BEBNWE

carried at depreciated cost LITEK A ARR (i) $ 4,936,745 $ -
Internet facilities, carried at B HERIE - IR E
depreciated cost A ABR (ii) 2,604,908 3,979,794

$ 7,541,653 $ 3,979,794

A @ HONG KONG INTERNET REGISTRATION CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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Property, plant and equipment (continued) 7

(a) Right-of-use assets (continued)

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases
recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

Depreciation charge of right-of-use

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS ER R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA8#5%I7R )

M BERRE (&)

(a) FERAREE (&
HERGHERANEER BN
TIEESTET

2018

(Note)
(Mt3)

AR EERERIE D H

assets by class of underlying asset FRAEEENTERSE
— Property leased for own use - HEsANmE $ 219,623 =
— Internet facilities — BRI 1,374,886 =
$ 1,594,509 $ —
Interest on lease liabilities (note 4(a))  HE&BEF & (H:T4()) $ 215298 $ =
Expense relating to short-term leases EF|IGHAHNR —T—h 4
and other leases with remaining +—A=+—8=ZH
lease term ending on or before 2 E R 52 BRFE & A E fh
31 December 2019 HEFBNRAY 1,745,355 =
Expense relating to leases of low-value BXEEEERE (T8
assets, excluding short-term leases  REEZELHHEE)
of low-value assets RN 32,520 =
Total minimum lease payments for LRIBER BT 2L
leases previously classified as FITHRD B REE
operating leases under HKAS 17 HENABAEED
RS N RERE - 3,576,706
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the Mz : ANEEFAHEBASERTER

modified retrospective approach and adjusted the
opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise
right-of-use assets relating to leases which were
previously classified as operating leases under
HKAS 17. After initial recognition of right-of-use
assets at 1 January 2019, the Group as a lessee
is required to recognise the depreciation of
right-of-use assets, instead of the previous policy
of recognising rental expenses incurred under
operating leases on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Under this approach, the comparative
information is not restated. See note 1(c).

EEEHRAZMEEERLF

EEERERABAVBRE
HEBIFE165 0 WRHRBRZ
T-hF—A— BB
BB ERIBRIEEEES
EBIFE1THRDBAKLER
ENEHMERRERAEE
E-RZT—NF—HA—H
M HERERREER - &K
EE@ (tEAEFAAN) BEDR
EREEENE - MIEBA
UAB R E AR g
HEEEMBEERI 2K
Ko IRIBEZFE - LLEER
TFEF) - 2R M5E1(c) °

2019 FEHRE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS RAR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L8% %7K )
7 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 7
(a) Right-of-use assets (continued)

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
$5,156,368. This amount related to the capitalised
lease payments payable under a renewed tenancy
agreement of a property.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the
maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in
notes 10(b) and 13, respectively.

(i) Property leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use
a property as its office through a renewed
tenancy agreement. The lease runs for a
period of 3 years.

(i) Other leases

The Group leases internet facilities under
leases expiring from 2 to 4 years. None of the
leases includes variable lease payments.

8 Investment in a subsidiary 8

The Company’s investment in a subsidiary was fully
impaired during the year ended 31 December 2014
based on an assessment of its recoverable amount. At 31
December 2019, the directors carried out an assessment of
the recoverable amount of the investment in a subsidiary.
Based on their review, no reversal of impairment losses
was recognised during the year.

W% - BEKRRE (&)
(a) ERAEEEH)

KEE FHAEEEEMNT
5,156,3687T ° Z & fE ZHIBE
MENEENEEHZENNE
MMEHENRER -

HERSRHBRENFEMEEMN
HEBENIHI O REIR
MsE10(b)AN13 ©

() THEBRW?E

AEEDBBERNEE
RS E R Y R AE R
NEMEN - HERHS
& o

(i) HpHEE

X PEL S E
B 0 T AR o
FARENTRSTER

AR/

RBARNRE

HE-_ZTZ-—MNE+-_A=+—HLHF
[ REEAQE AR E B E AR
AABREBHZAMBMIEE 2 EA
B -RZZE—NF+_A=+—H £
EERRBEBHEEMAOREHTT KD
HEEITRE - REBMMMOTME - AF
MAREIREREREITER o

Percentage
of issued
capital
Place of Particulars directly
incorporation of issued held by the
Name of company and operation capital Company Principal activity
AAEEE
=8 B 3L R ERTRE RFENS#RT
NEEH R B e BREAESLE FEHK
Hong Kong Domain Name Hong Kong 2 shares 100%  Provision of “.hk” and
Registration Company Limited “ &%” domain name
registration services
EFREAEMARAR E 2R EBAX 100% et [.hk] K [ & ]

%@ HONG KONG INTERNET REGISTRATION CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS ER R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA8#5%I7R )

Trade and other receivables 9 JE UK BR R K2 EL b FE LR R
2019 2018
Trade receivables JE Uk BR X $ 58,105 $ 53,470
Deposits, prepayments and other & - BRRER
receivables e IR 4,085,217 3,207,618

$ 4,143,322 $ 3,261,088

The amount of the Group’s trade and other receivables REBEBBE-—FEREKESNERARAX
expected to be recovered or recognised as expenses after B FE U AR R 1% H th fE W 5k & 654,659 7T
more than one year is $654,659 (2018: $507,727). All of (ZZ—)\4F : 507,72770) » REBHE
the other trade and other receivables are expected to be BT FE MR 30 K Efh FE UG & 1 —
recovered or recognised as expenses within one year. FAWESERBHAZ ©

Trade receivables are due within 30 days from the date of FEURBR SRE B AR B8 H B 530K A &
billing. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set B REFBEEBRMHEMFBEHIIN
out in note 16(a). MisE16(a) ©

Cash and cash equivalents 10 HRERFALZEEY

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) BeRRALEEYERE:

2019 2018

Bank deposits maturing after three GRHRBeE=@A 2

months when placed SRITTERK $ 186,860,270 $ 162,131,850
Cash at bank and on hand (cash and #R1TRFHEE S (FERE

cash equivalents in the consolidated  RE XTI E K&

cash flow statement) HeZEY) 7,731,429 26,095,888
Cash and cash equivalents in the ERE MRS R R TR
consolidated statement of financial HehIREeFEEY
position $194,591,699 $ 188,227,738
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) RMEFTBHELENEGZHR

financing activities:
The table below details changes in the Group’s THRFMAEFBREAREZHHN
liabilities from financing activities, including both BEEZE - pERESNIEREE
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from B BB EHMEANBEAR
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows SMEXKRRBAESTREHRIRE
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the mEETOEAKREREETHIR
cash flow statement as cash flows from financing SRENAE-
activities.

EBORAZMEERERQT 2019 FEHRS @2



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS RAR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB#5IR )

10

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

(b)

10 RERBSEFEY (A

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) BMETHELANEGBZHIER

financing activities: (continued)

At 31 December 2018

Impact on initial application of

(&)

Lease liabilities
HEAE

(Note 13)
(FF5E13)

M2018F12HA31H $ -

HEREREEMBREER

HKFRS 16 (Note) F165RHI T8 (Miz) 3,979,794
At 1 January 2019 20191818 $ 3,979,794
Changes from financing cash flows: RERSRENEE :
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENEeESIHS $ (1,505,564)
Interest element of lease rentals paid EfHEESFEE D (215,298)
_Total changes from financing cash flows =~ BAREREMEDEE $_(1,720,862)
Other changes: Hith 5
Interest expenses (note 4(a)) FERZ (F5E4(a) $ 215,298
Increase in lease liabilities from entering FRRIFEEEE
into a new lease during the year HEBFEEM 5,156,368
_Totalotherchanges HtwS®es $ 5,371,666
At 31 December 2019 M2019%F12831H $ 7,630,598

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the

st AEEFEBRABEETEN

modified retrospective method and adjusted the EDENERAESMESRE
opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise EBIE16% c WHER -
right-of-use assets relating to leases which were T NE—B—BHEIL
previously classified as operating leases under BUB LR RIE R S @ 5t

HKAS 17. See note 1(c).

ERFA7THE B AKEEHE
ENEHEERRFERESR
E - 2RMEC) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS ER R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA8#5%I7R )

Other payables 11 HMEMSR
2019 2018
Accrued charges and other creditors EETE A R E BN R $ 5,421,774 $ 3,475,185
Advances received BT 2,456,093 2,781,047

$ 7,877,867 $ 6,256,232

All of the other payables are expected to be settled within FrEEMENRBSEE—FRER -

one year.

Deferred registration income 12 EZEFEMBA

At 31 December 2019, the deferred registration income RZTE-NF+ZA=+—8  EEx

expected to be recognised as income is as follows: MU ATBEFER T HEER R K AR

T
2019 2018

Within 1 year 1FR $ 22,464,366 $ 22,666,017
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F&B2F R $ 9,208,988 $ 9,148,728
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FBBSER 9,334,225 9,375,144
After 5 years 5% 1% 949,924 943,952

$ 19,493,137 $ 19,467,824

$ 41,957,503 $ 42,133,841

The Group typically receives full prepayments from RNEERE S ETME A RS
customers when they register internet domain names. EPHEEEMNR - WEIHERREEAE
Fee received relating to future periods is recognised as a ANERABRAREGHNARGE  WEEEY
contract liability and is classified as deferred registration BAARPEREARETMEA o 1
income in the consolidated statement of financial position. BRWATE—ZE2RAFHAMBANERE
Registration fees income is recognised over time on a MR -

straight-line basis over the registration period of one to five

years.

EREMAZMERERLT 2019 FEHRSE @2



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS RAR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB#5IR )

12 Deferred registration income (continued) 12 EZEFEMWA (&)
Movements in contract liabilities EREENES
Balance at 1 January ®1 A1 B $ 42,133,841
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of REFIHARBEEEENEETH
recognising revenue during the year FEWAMERE VB ERD
that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the year (22,666,017)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of FR PATE S U B 5 fif 2 i 38 AN A9
receiving registration fees during the year EHEE 22,489,679
Balance at 31 December W12 A31 B &R $ 41,957,503
13 Lease liabilities 13 HEAE
The following table shows the remaining contractual TRERRERBERSBRALB
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the BEERBMBREEAF 16K ZAARE
current and previous reporting periods and at the date of HHEBEFREHNTIEA

transition to HKFRS 16:

31 December 2019 1 January 2019 (Note) 31 December 2018 (Note)
2019%12A31R 2019%1A1A (M) 2018512 A31A (fizH)
Present Present Present
value of value of value of
the lease  Total lease the lease  Total lease the lease  Total lease

payments  payments payments payments payments payments

HENRBRE HEATEE BSRyRE HE . MERFRE
Wb tyear L IEA B R 1200245 $1460006 8 - 8 o
After 1 year but within 2 years ~ 1F{&{B2ER $2,534,671 $2,722,099 $1,115373 $1,229562 $ - § =
After 2 years but within 5 years 2 &E5F R 2,336,209 2,391,522 1,584,176 1,670,721 = =
________________________________________________ $4,870880  $5113,621 $2099549 2900283 § - 8§ -
$7,630,508 $8,193,602 $3,979,794 $4363209 § - $ =
Less: total future interest W ARFI B AL EE
expenses (563,004) (383,415) -
Present value of lease liabilties ~ HE&ERE $7,630,598 $3,979,794 $ =
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Note:

14

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS ER R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA8#5%I7R )

Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the
modified retrospective approach and adjusted the opening
balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities
relating to leases which were previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17. Comparative information
as at 31 December 2018 has not been restated. Further
details on the impact of the transition to HKFRS 16 are set
out in note 1(c).

Income tax in the consolidated statement of

financial position

(a)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

recognised:

The component of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the movements during the year are as
follows:

13
GEX

14

(a)

Depreciation

HESE (H)

AEEBERRMBETEWECE
RIEMBRFBIMEENFE 165
WHRER-Z-NAF—A—HHOH
MNEERIAS R RIBE B ST ER
FITEORARKEHENAHME
ERRBERREE -R_T—N\F
TZA=ZT - HNERERTTE
5 - BREBEE T BN MEER
F16RNTEBNE—FFHE 2R
MizE1(c) °

REPBRR KRR AEHR

CRIELEHHEEERER :

BB ERA PR RE ER
WD B (B ),/ B EE R
BAMAEERBOT

allowances
in excess of Future
the related benefits of
depreciation tax losses
BHEBAED BB RN
hESHE RIRF =
Deferred tax arising from: EZEBIEBRER :
At 1 January 2018 71201851 H1H $ 499,628 $ (499,628) $ -
(Credited)/charged to (tA)/ kriBzs
profit or loss (62,717) 62,717 =
At 31 December 2018 "2018F12 531 H $ 436,911  § (436,911) $ =
At 1 January 2019 720191 A1H $ 436,911 $ (436,911) $ -
(Credited)/charged to (5T A)/ MR8z
profit or loss 28,734 (28,734) -
At 31 December 2019 2019412 A31H $ 465,645 $ (465,645) $ -

EREMAZMERERLT 2019 FEHRSE @2



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS RAR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB#5IR )

14 Income tax in the consolidated statement of 14
financial position (continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets not recognised:

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 1(k), the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of
$835,807 (2018: $296,486) as it is not probable
that future taxable profits against which the losses
can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax
jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses do not expire
under the current tax legislation.

15 Capital management 15

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to serve the internet
community of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region, as well as the global internet community, in relation
to the administration of the “.hk” and “.&#" country-code
top-level domain.

The Group defines “capital” as including all components of
equity.

The Group’s capital structure is regularly reviewed and
managed. Adjustments are made to the capital structure
in light of changes in economic conditions affecting
the Group, to the extent that these do not conflict with
the directors’ fiduciary duties towards the Group or the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The Group was not subject to externally imposed capital
requirements in either the current or the prior year.

@ HONG KONG INTERNET REGISTRATION CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS ER R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LUE#57R )

Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity and currency risks arises in
the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group’s
exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these
risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to cash and deposits with banks and trade and
other receivables. Management has a credit policy
in place and exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group’s cash and deposits with banks are
placed with major financial institutions.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These
take into account the customer’s past payments
history, financial position and other factors. Trade
receivables are due within 30 days from the date
of billings. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

At the end of the reporting period, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk with respect
to trade and other receivables from third party
customers. The Group measures loss allowances for
the trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs (which is calculated using a provision matrix).
Due to the financial strength of its customers and
the short duration of the trade receivables, the ECL
allowance is considered insignificant.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of cash and deposits with
banks and trade and other receivables in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The
Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

16
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS RAR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB#5IR )

16 Financial risk management and fair values of 16
financial instruments (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

All financial liabilities as disclosed in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position are
required to be settled within one year or on demand.
The total contractual undiscounted cash flows of
these financial liabilities equal their carrying amounts
on the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

(¢) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risks through
certain transactions that are dominated in the United
States dollars (“USD"). As the Hong Kong dollar
(“HKD") is pegged to the USD, the Group considers
the risk of movements in exchange rate between the
HKD and the USD to be insignificant.

(d) Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are
not materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2019 and 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS ER R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA8#5%I7R )

Operating lease commitments 17 RKREHERE
At 31 December 2018, the total future minimum lease RZE—N\F+_A=+—H A&EH
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are BREIIHELCEHENBRFERE
payable by the Group as follows: NRBEET -
2018

Premises BF
Within 1 year 1FER $ 1,737,120
Equipment and facilities BEWERE
Within 1 year 1FR $ 1,503,682
After 1 year but within 5 years 1F8B5F A 2,905,802

$ 4,409,484
The Group is the lessee in respect of an office and a NEBALEFIBESSSHELE175
number of items of internet facilities under short-term DAL ENSHHEERAENS
operating lease which were previously classified as TEHERREER AT A - NEFSE
operating leases under HKAS 17. The Group has initially B ASIE IR A E N ERE S
applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective AR E 165 - IBIEZ L AEFH
approach. Under this approach, the Group adjusted the AT —NE— - HHEYES
opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise lease URREBAZEREnREa s (AW
liabilities relating to these leases (see note 1(c)). From 1(c) -A-T—NE—A—B# Bk
1 January 2019 onwards, future lease payments are TE N TR B T 1(F) PR s I = R B 7%
recognised as lease liabilities in the statement of financial MNERNERATSAGE  MAEMBAE
position in accordance with the policies set out in note BRSNS AN 1335 -
1(f), and the details regarding the Group’s future lease
payments are disclosed in note 13.
The Group has not committed at 31 December 2019 to REBRZZE—NF+ZA=1+—8&
enter into any leases that has not yet commenced. ANAEGER] A M ARG HEE -
Material related party transactions 18 EBEAXBEFIRS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed BRI IS MR TR BB X 5 R AR
elsewhere in these financial statements during the year, the REERFANEEBEFETTIEKR
Group entered into the following material related parties R

transactions:

2019 2018

Key management personnel, BEEZE  BEEF:
including directors:
— Short-term employee benefits —HEEERF $ 5,994911 $ 3,695,165

O
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS RAR M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB#5IR )

DT 2 HBRR R

19 Company-level statement of financial position 19

2018
(Note)
(F=E)
Non-current asset ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Yz - BE KEE $ 7,414,280 $ -
Deposits e 654,659 507,727
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, $ 8068939 § 507,727
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables FE U BR X $ - 3 405
Prepayments and other receivables TEAS 3R B L A i R 2,367,876 1,624,426
Amount due from a subsidiary = NGIE € - 963,596
Cash and deposits with banks e RIBITER 188,668,196 180,278,001
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, $191,036,072 § 182,866,428
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables E b S 3k $ 4,233,425 $ 3,442,999
Deferred registration income AT T A 17,186,841 16,962,778
Amount due to a subsidiary AN EPNGIE S 1,009,017 =
Lease liabilities HEARE 2,408,448 =
$ 24,837,731 $ 20,405,777

_Netcurrentassets === #‘ABEERE $166,198,341 $ 162,460,651
_Total assets less current liabilities  HEAERABAM PIIESOn2R0y 162,968,378
Non-current liability FRBEE
Deferred registration income PR ST S U A $ 15,067,220 $ 14,927,192
Lease liabilities HERE 4,870,880 —
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, $ 19,938,100 §$ 14,927,192
NET ASSETS EERE $154,329,180 $ 148,041,186
Representing: (-
Retained profits REB R $154,329,180 $ 148,041,186
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B RS ER R RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA8#5%I7R )

Company-level statement of financial position
(continued)

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 27 March 2020.

Chan Sai Ming

R 48 A A&+
Chairman Director
Ey BE
Note:

The Company has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019
using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach,
the comparative information is not restated. See note 1(c).

Comparative figures

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January
2019 using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, comparative information is not restated. Further
details of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed
in note 1(c).

Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued but not
yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2019

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and a new
standard which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2019 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments is expected to
be in the period of initial application. So far the Group
has concluded that the adoption of them does not have
a significant impact on the Group’s result and/or financial
position.

19

20

21
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Ho Wai Chung Stephen

W
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